Oracle® Crystal Ball

Oracle® Crystal Ball Decision Optimizer Oracle® Crystal Ball Enterprise Performance Management Oracle® Crystal Ball Classroom Student Edition Oracle® Crystal Ball Classroom Faculty Edition Oracle® Crystal Ball Enterprise Performance Management for Oracle Hyperion Enterprise Planning Suite

Installation and Licensing Guide

Release 11.1.2.2



Crystal Ball Installation and Licensing Guide, 11.1.2.2

Copyright © 1988, 2012, Oracle and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved.

Authors: EPM Information Development Team

Oracle and Java are registered trademarks of Oracle and/or its affiliates. Other names may be trademarks of their respective owners.

This software and related documentation are provided under a license agreement containing restrictions on use and disclosure and are protected by intellectual property laws. Except as expressly permitted in your license agreement or allowed by law, you may not use, copy, reproduce, translate, broadcast, modify, license, transmit, distribute, exhibit, perform, publish, or display any part, in any form, or by any means. Reverse engineering, disassembly, or decompilation of this software, unless required by law for interoperability, is prohibited.

The information contained herein is subject to change without notice and is not warranted to be error-free. If you find any errors, please report them to us in writing.

If this is software or related documentation that is delivered to the U.S. Government or anyone licensing it on behalf of the U.S. Government, the following notice is applicable:

U.S. GOVERNMENT RIGHTS:

Programs, software, databases, and related documentation and technical data delivered to U.S. Government customers are "commercial computer software" or "commercial technical data" pursuant to the applicable Federal Acquisition Regulation and agency-specific supplemental regulations. As such, the use, duplication, disclosure, modification, and adaptation shall be subject to the restrictions and license terms set forth in the applicable Government contract, and, to the extent applicable by the terms of the Government contract, the additional rights set forth in FAR 52.227-19, Commercial Computer Software License (December 2007). Oracle America, Inc., 500 Oracle Parkway, Redwood City, CA 94065.

This software or hardware is developed for general use in a variety of information management applications. It is not developed or intended for use in any inherently dangerous applications, including applications that may create a risk of personal injury. If you use this software or hardware in dangerous applications, then you shall be responsible to take all appropriate fail-safe, backup, redundancy, and other measures to ensure its safe use. Oracle Corporation and its affiliates disclaim any liability for any damages caused by use of this software or hardware in dangerous applications.

This software or hardware and documentation may provide access to or information on content, products, and services from third parties. Oracle Corporation and its affiliates are not responsible for and expressly disclaim all warranties of any kind with respect to third-party content, products, and services. Oracle Corporation and its affiliates will not be responsible for any loss, costs, or damages incurred due to your access to or use of third-party content, products, or services.

Contents

Documentation Accessibility	5
Chapter 1. Introduction	7
Before You Begin	7
System Requirements	7
International Support for Crystal Ball	9
Microsoft .NET Framework	9
Crystal Ball and Microsoft Windows Vista	10
Notes for Users of Earlier Versions of Crystal Ball	10
Notes for Users of Crystal Ball Decision Optimizer	10
Additional Resources	10
Chapter 2. Installing and Licensing Crystal Ball	11
Guidelines for Installing and Licensing Crystal Ball	11
Installing Crystal Ball	11
Licensing Crystal Ball	14
Installing and Licensing Crystal Ball with a Script	16
Performing an Administrative Installation	16
Automatically Licensing Crystal Ball After Installation	17
Chapter 3. Post-Installation Steps and Troubleshooting	19
Starting Crystal Ball	19
Welcome Screen	19
Starting Automatically with Microsoft Excel	20
Using the Application Manager	20
Using the COM Add-Ins Manager	20
Using the Crystal Ball Developer Kit	21
Working with the Crystal Ball Application Manager	21
Uninstalling Crystal Ball	23
Uninstalling Crystal Ball Manually	23
Uninstalling Crystal Ball with a Script	24
Troubleshooting	24
Disabled Add-ins Message	24

Antivirus Warning Is Displayed During Installation
Software and Hardware 32- and 64-Bit Compatibility Issues
Other Compatibility Issues
Extreme Speed
Data Conversion
Distribution Fitting
Crystal Ball Microsoft Excel Functions
Converting Models with CB.Get Functions Defined as Forecasts
Backward Compatibility in Microsoft Excel 2003 and Earlier Versions of MicrosoftExcel27
Running Crystal Ball from the Start Menu
Problems with Crystal Ball Tools
Checking the README File
Viewing the Installation Log File and Other Log Files
Finding Preferences Files
Learning More About Crystal Ball
Appendix A. Microsoft Excel 2007 and Later Compatibility and Conversion Issues
File Types in Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later31
New Crystal Ball Data Format 31
Portability of Analysis Toolpak Functions in Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later
Converting to Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later
Using the Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later Convert Command
Rare Data Loss Scenarios 32
Forward, Then Backward Save
Save and Resave in Microsoft Excel 2003 or Earlier

Documentation Accessibility

For information about Oracle's commitment to accessibility, visit the Oracle Accessibility Program website at http://www.oracle.com/pls/topic/lookup?ctx=acc&id=docacc.

Access to Oracle Support

Oracle customers have access to electronic support through My Oracle Support. For information, visit http://www.oracle.com/pls/topic/lookup?ctx=acc&id=info or visit http://www.oracle.com/pls/topic/lookup?ctx=acc&id=trs if you are hearing impaired.

1

Introduction

In This Chapter

Before You Begin	7
System Requirements	
International Support for Crystal Ball	9
Microsoft .NET Framework	9
Crystal Ball and Microsoft Windows Vista	10
Notes for Users of Earlier Versions of Crystal Ball	10
Notes for Users of Crystal Ball Decision Optimizer	10
Additional Resources	10

Before You Begin

This guide describes how to install and license the following Oracle products and related Crystal Ball products:

- Oracle Crystal Ball (including Classroom Faculty and Student Editions)
- Oracle Crystal Ball Decision Optimizer
- Oracle Crystal Ball Enterprise Performance Management

Be sure your computer meets the software and hardware requirements outlined in "System Requirements" on page 7 before you begin the installation process described in Chapter 2, "Installing and Licensing Crystal Ball."

System Requirements

The current release of Crystal Ball can run on supported 32-bit (x86) or 64-bit (x64) versions of Microsoft Windows and Microsoft Excel.

The following bit-level compatibilities apply:

- 32-bit levels of Crystal Ball products must be used with 32-bit Microsoft Excel and Windows on 32-bit computers.
- 32-bit Crystal Ball can be used in emulation mode with 32-bit Microsoft Excel on 64-bit computers using all of the 64-bit Crystal Ball platforms as well as 64-bit versions of Microsoft

Windows XP Home Edition with Service Pack 3, Microsoft Windows XP Professional with Service Pack 3, and Microsoft Windows Server 2003 with Service Pack 2/R2+.

When running in 32-bit emulation mode, Crystal Ball has the same 1–1.5 GB memory limitations encountered when running on 32-bit Microsoft Windows operating systems. Other 32-bit limitations also apply.

• 64-bit Crystal Ball is compatible with 64-bit versions of Microsoft Excel and Windows.

The computer where you are installing Crystal Ball products should meet these system requirements:

- A compatible version of Microsoft Windows:
 - 32-bit Microsoft Windows (for 32-bit Crystal Ball)—Microsoft Windows XP
 Professional with Service Pack 3, Microsoft Windows Server 2003 with Service Pack 3,
 Microsoft Windows Vista with Service Pack 2, Microsoft Windows Server 2008 with
 Service Pack 2, or Microsoft Windows 7
 - 64-bit Microsoft Windows (for 32-bit Crystal Ball in emulation mode or 64-bit Crystal Ball)—64-bit versions of Microsoft Windows Vista with Service Pack 2, Microsoft Windows Server 2008 with Service Pack 2, or Microsoft Windows 7
- A compatible version of Microsoft Excel:
 - 32-bit Microsoft Excel (for 32-bit Crystal Ball)—Microsoft Excel 2003 with Service Pack
 3, Microsoft Excel 2007 with Service Pack 3, or 32-bit version of Microsoft Excel 2010 with Service Pack 1
 - o **64-bit Microsoft Excel** (for 64-bit Crystal Ball)—64-bit version of Microsoft Excel 2010
- Microsoft Internet Explorer 7.0 and 8.0

Note: Other browsers, such as Firefox, can be used to install and work with Crystal Ball. However, other browsers can have compatibility issues caused by security handling and other features.

- Microsoft .NET Framework 3.5
- Personal computer with Pentium-equivalent microprocessor (800 MHz or faster)
- At least 512 MB of RAM
- Free hard disk space for Microsoft .NET Framework if not already installed plus approximately 100 MB for Crystal Ball.
- Video graphics adapter and monitor with at least 1024x768 resolution and 16-bit color; a width of 1152 pixels is recommended
- Adobe Acrobat Reader 8.0 or later
- **Note:** Crystal Ball is designed to meet Federal Desktop Core Configuration (FDCC) configuration requirements for Microsoft Windows XP and Vista according to the standards specified on the National Institute of Standards and Technology FDCC Web site, nvd.nist.gov/fdcc/index.cfm. For more information, search the Web for NIST FDCC.

International Support for Crystal Ball

This version of Crystal Ball is supported on non-English versions of Microsoft Windows with Microsoft Office in the same language. This latest release of Crystal Ball is available in English, French, German, Japanese, Portuguese, and Spanish. Crystal Ball, Microsoft Windows, and Microsoft Excel should all be installed in the same language. Users of other languages who want to use Crystal Ball with Windows Vista or Microsoft Excel 2007 or later must download and install the English version of Crystal Ball 7.3.x or 11.1.x.

If you are using this version on an English operating system with non-English regional settings, Oracle recommends that you install the Microsoft Multilingual User Interface (MUI) Pack for your version of Microsoft Office. (These are called Language Packs for Microsoft Office 2007 or later.) If you do not install the Microsoft MUI Pack, Microsoft Excel is displayed with the regional formatting and Crystal Ball is displayed with English formatting. For more information about the MUI Pack, see http://www.microsoft.com and search for MUI Pack on the Microsoft Web site.

- **Note:** If you are using Crystal Ball on a non-English version of Microsoft Excel 2007 or later and you save a Crystal Ball model in .xls format to one of the Microsoft Excel 2007 or later formats (.xlsx, .xlsb, or .xlsm), a warning message is displayed. This message explains that the scripts in the workbook are an unsupported feature. Please ignore this message. The Crystal Ball data will be saved. For best results, Crystal Ball should be open when the model is saved.
- **Tip:** If you switch back and forth between English and translated versions of Crystal Ball, preference strings—including folder names in the Distribution Gallery—may be displayed in the language that was previously installed. If this occurs, delete the localized preferences folder. The next time you start Crystal Ball, preferences will be displayed with strings in the current language. To delete the preferences folder, see "Finding Preferences Files" on page 29.

Microsoft .NET Framework

The Microsoft .NET Framework is technology from Microsoft for developing secure and advanced Windows applications. Currently, Microsoft .NET Framework 3.5 must be installed on your computer before you can install and license this version of Crystal Ball. Crystal Ball must be locked to a supported versions of Microsoft .NET Framework to run properly. See "Using the Application Manager" on page 20.

You can review the list of Microsoft products in Add/Remove Programs on the Windows Control Panel to determine whether the Microsoft .NET Framework is installed on your computer and, if so, which version is installed.

If you do not have a supported version of Microsoft .NET Framework, you can download one from http://www.microsoft.com.

Crystal Ball and Microsoft Windows Vista

Files installed in the Windows Vista Program Files folder are opened as read-only files in Microsoft Excel, even though that property is not set. If you want to modify the Crystal Ball Examples files, save them under another name before attempting to run a simulation on them.

If you are using Windows Vista, familiarize yourself with the locations of folders mentioned in this guide, such as My Documents and Application Data. For example, My Documents is under C:\Users instead of C:\Documents and Settings as in earlier versions of Windows.

Notes for Users of Earlier Versions of Crystal Ball

Important! When you install this version of Crystal Ball on the same computer where an earlier released version of Crystal Ball 7.*x* or 11.*x* is installed, it will automatically be replaced by this version without prompting.

If you have modified Crystal Ball example models and saved them under the same name, they will be replaced by unmodified models. Be sure to rename them before you install this version of Crystal Ball.

Notes for Users of Crystal Ball Decision Optimizer

If you have Crystal Ball Decision Optimizer, the Extreme Speed feature is activated by default. Certain models created in earlier versions of Crystal Ball may not run in Extreme speed. In this case, a warning message is displayed with information about the problem. You can downshift into Normal speed and continue with the simulation. For details, see the Extreme Speed information in the *Oracle Crystal Ball Reference and Examples Guide*.

Additional Resources

Oracle offers technical support, training, and additional resources to increase the effectiveness with which you can use Crystal Ball products.

For more information about all of these resources, see the Crystal Ball Web site at:

```
http://www.oracle.com/crystalball
```

2

In

Installing and Licensing Crystal Ball

This Chapter		
	Guidelines for Installing and Licensing Crystal Ball	11
	Installing Crystal Ball	11
	Licensing Crystal Ball	14
	Installing and Licensing Crystal Ball with a Script	16

Guidelines for Installing and Licensing Crystal Ball

Follow these steps to install and license Crystal Ball. The basic process is the same whether you are installing Crystal Ball with a permanent, textbook, classroom, or trial license:

- 1. Confirm that you have the required hardware and software, listed in "System Requirements" on page 7.
- 2. Read the information in "Microsoft .NET Framework" on page 9 and verify that a supported version of Microsoft .NET Framework is installed on your computer.
- 3. Confirm that you have downloaded the correct Crystal Ball installation file, 32-bit or 64bit. Notice that as you install and use Crystal Ball, some dialogs specify the bit level and some do not. Illustrations in this document show 32-bit dialogs.
- 4. Follow the instructions in the next section, "Installing Crystal Ball" on page 11 to install Crystal Ball.
- 5. Follow the instructions in "Licensing Crystal Ball" on page 14 to obtain a username and serial number, and then activate a Crystal Ball license.

Note: If installation problems occur, see "Troubleshooting" on page 24.

Installing Crystal Ball

- **Note:** Installation is similar for 32-bit and 64-bit versions of Crystal Ball products. Figures in this section show screens for 32-bit installation.
- > To install Crystal Ball products:
- 1 Log in to the computer that will run the Crystal Ball software.

2 Download the correct installation file, 32-bit or 64-bit, as recommended in "System Requirements" on page 7.

3 Click the file that you downloaded. The file uncompresses its compressed contents.

The CD or the folder where you unzipped a downloaded Crystal Ball installation file (the installation source folder) contains these files:

- Crystal Ball Installation Guide.pdf—The Oracle Crystal Ball Installation and Licensing Guide in Adobe Acrobat .pdf format; if you need this file in .html format before installing Crystal Ball, you can download it from the Deployment page of the EPM Documentation Library on Oracle Technology Network. To display that page, see "Checking the README File" on page 28.
- License Key Request Process.html—The Oracle Crystal Ball License Key Request Process, which describes how to obtain and activate a Crystal Ball license code for use after the initial time-limited trial license expires
- **README.htm**—An overview document that introduces Crystal Ball, describes how to display the latest Crystal Ball README (release notes) file on Oracle Technology Network, and lists third party license and copyright information
- A bit-specific setup executable file—The setup launcher for Crystal Ball
- 4 If the installation does not start automatically, double-click the setup executable file in the folder where the installation files are located.
 - **Note:** If the installation fails or you see a warning message, there may be a 32-bit/64-bit incompatibility. See "Software and Hardware 32- and 64-Bit Compatibility Issues" on page 25.

If installation stops and a message about another Crystal Ball version is displayed, see "Uninstalling Crystal Ball Manually" on page 23 and follow the instructions there. This message could be triggered by the previous installation of other Oracle products, such as the Predictive Planning feature of Oracle Hyperion Planning, and you need to uninstall **Oracle Crystal Ball** when you find it in the **Add/Remove Programs** or **Programs and Features** list.

- 5 When requested, select a setup language. The default is **English (United States)** except in cases where the language selection in **Regional and Language Options** on the Control Panel corresponds to one of the other installable Crystal Ball language versions.
 - Note: The language selection determines the language of the installation wizard, the product language, and the language of related assemblies (such as the Crystal Ball Application Manager) assuming that the appropriate language versions of Microsoft Windows and Microsoft Excel are used (see "International Support for Crystal Ball" on page 9).

A message states that the installation .msi file is being extracted. This can take several minutes. When extraction is complete, the Crystal Ball installer launches (Figure 1).

Note: In rare cases, antivirus programs can slow down the installation and cause other unexpected results including the disappearance of installation dialogs or the display of dialogs with only the Cancel button available. In these cases, the installation is still active and should proceed as usual within 10 minutes.

Figure 1 The Crystal Ball installation Welcome Dialog

🥵 Oracle Crystal Ball (32	2-bit) - InstallShield Wizard 🛛 🛛 🗙
ORACLE	Welcome to the InstallShield Wizard for Oracle Crystal Ball (32-bit), Fusion Edition
CRYSTAL BALL	The InstallShield(R) Wizard will install Oracle Crystal Ball (32-bit) on your computer. CAUTION: Any existing versions of Crystal Ball will be uninstalled. To continue, dick Next.
	SOFTWARE REQUIREMENT: Orade Crystal Ball (32-bit) requires Microsoft .NET Framework.
	WARNING: This program is protected by copyright law and international treaties.
	< Back Next > Cancel

- 6 In the installation wizard Welcome dialog, notice that any existing versions of Crystal Ball will be uninstalled and that Microsoft .NET Framework is required.
 - **Note:** If you do not have a supported version of Microsoft .NET Framework, or if you are not sure, click **Next**. The installer will look for the required Microsoft .NET Framework components. If a required version of Microsoft .NET Framework is not installed, a dialog opens and enables you to access the Microsoft Web site to download it.
- 7 Click Next to continue.

The installer checks for previous versions of Crystal Ball.

8 If you are prompted to uninstall a previous version of Crystal Ball, click **Yes** both to uninstall and to confirm the uninstallation.

If you are prompted to uninstall shared files, select **No To All**. When the uninstallation has successfully completed, click **OK**.

- 9 In the **Customer Information** dialog, enter your name and organization (such as company or school) and click **Next**.
- **10** In the **Setup Type** dialog, select either **Complete (Typical)(** or **Custom** setup.
 - **Complete** (**Typical**) installs the Crystal Ball product package plus HTML files of product documentation in the default installation folder.
 - Custom enables you to select a different installation folder.

- Note: Oracle strongly recommends that you select **Complete (Typical)** and install to the default installation folder. If you are installing a 32-bit version of Crystal Ball on a 64-bit version of Microsoft Windows, the default installation folder is under C: \Program Files(x86).
- 11 Click Next.
- 12 In the **Ready to Install the Program** dialog, review the settings you have selected, and then click **Install**.
- 13 Figure 2 shows the InstallShield Wizard Completed dialog. When it opens, click Finish.

Crystal Ball is ready to use.

Figure 2 The InstallShield Wizard Completed Dialog

뤻 Oracle Crystal Ball (32	-bit) - InstallShield Wizard	×
	InstallShield Wizard Completed Setup has successfully finished the installation. The InstallShield Wizard has successfully installed Oracle Crystal Ball (32-bit). Click Finish to exit the wizard.	
	< Back Finish Cance	

You can use Crystal Ball for up to 15 days without a license. At that time, you must enter a username and serial number to continue. You can enter the username and serial number when you start Crystal Ball, or you can select a command from the Help menu or Help group in Microsoft Excel 2007 or later. See the following section, "Licensing Crystal Ball" on page 14.

Licensing Crystal Ball

You can use Crystal Ball for 15 days without activating a license. During this time, Crystal Ball runs with a trial license. All features are available during the trial. The Crystal Ball Welcome screen is displayed each time you start Crystal Ball and indicates how many days remain on the trial license before it expires.

Note: These conditions are also true for Crystal Ball textbook licenses, except they are valid for longer than 15 days, usually 140 days, and must be activated as described in the following text.

To activate a purchased Crystal Ball license, you must obtain an Oracle license code and enter the code into Crystal Ball.

- **Note:** You need local administrator privileges to license Crystal Ball for all users on a computer. However, you can license for a single user without administrator privileges.
- > To obtain a license code:
- 1 Contact Oracle at licensecodes_ww@oracle.com to request a Crystal Ball license code.

In your e-mail, include your name, e-mail address, organization, Oracle Customer Support Identifier (CSI), or other unique identifier such as your Oracle customer ID number. If you are eligible for a license, you will receive a user name and serial number (the Crystal Ball license code).

Describe the environment where you will be installing Crystal Ball (desktop only or a multiuser computer). Also, if your corporation has a generic username, indicate this in the e-mail.

2 Check your e-mail for mail from Oracle with your Crystal Ball license code.

The e-mail from licensecodes_ww@oracle.com will include your Crystal Ball user name and serial number.

- > When you receive your Crystal Ball license code, follow these steps to license Crystal Ball:
- 1 Locate the username and serial number you received from Oracle and start Crystal Ball.
- 2 In the Crystal Ball Welcome screen, click Activate License.
- 3 In the **Username** box of the Activate a License dialog, enter the username provided by Oracle. This is usually the e-mail address you provided when you downloaded Crystal Ball.
- 4 In the Serial Number boxes, enter the serial number provided by Oracle.

The easiest way to do this is to copy the serial number from an e-mail and paste it into the first Serial Number box (at the left). It automatically pastes correctly into the other boxes.

5 Click **OK**.

If you entered the serial number correctly, the license is activated instantly and a confirmation message is displayed. When you click OK in the confirmation message, the Crystal Ball Welcome screen is displayed. You can click **Use Crystal Ball** to start using Crystal Ball, or click another link. The *Oracle Crystal Ball User's Guide* describes the other links. Notice that you can click **View Existing Licenses** in the Activate a License dialog to review feature and expiration information for your license.

- **Note:** If you license Crystal Ball more than once, any previous licenses for version 11.1.1 or later are removed (although they are archived for display in the Existing Licenses dialog in case a previous license must be restored).
- If you need to open the Activate a License dialog after you have either started Crystal Ball or activated your license, select Help, then Crystal Ball, and then Licensing in the Microsoft Excel

menu bar. For Microsoft Excel 2007 or later, select **Resources**, and then **Licensing** in the **Help** group at the end of the Crystal Ball ribbon (following the Tools group).

To perform a silent install, see "Installing and Licensing Crystal Ball with a Script" on page 16.

Installing and Licensing Crystal Ball with a Script

When installing Crystal Ball on a number of computers, it can be helpful to install and license using a script.

If you have access to a Crystal Ball .msi installation file, you can use msiexec to run the installation by entering the following statement on one line:

msiexec /i "Oracle Crystal Ball.msi filename" CBUSERNAME="cbusername" CBSERIALNUMBER=cbserialnumber /qn

- Oracle Crystal Ball.msi filename can be Oracle Crystal Ball (32bit).msi or Oracle Crystal Ball (64-bit).msi, depending on whether you are installing 32-bit or 64-bit Crystal Ball.
- cbusername and cbserialnumber are the user name and Crystal Ball serial number for the particular individual whose product is being installed and licensed.

Note: Enclose username in quotation marks. Do not add spaces within the serial number.

If you only have access to the Crystal Ball setup executable file, possibly through a download from the Web, you can perform a silent installation and license at the same time with this statement:

setupfilename /s /v"CBUSERNAME=\"cbusername\" CBSERIALNUMBER=cbserialnumber /qn"

• setupfilename includes the bit level (32-bit or 64-bit).

Related topics:

- To extract the Crystal Ball msi file from the setup executable file, see "Performing an Administrative Installation" on page 16.
- To automatically license Crystal Ball after Installation, see "Automatically Licensing Crystal Ball After Installation" on page 17.
- To uninstall Crystal Ball manually or using a script, see "Uninstalling Crystal Ball" on page 23.

Performing an Administrative Installation

The Crystal Ball installer is currently supplied as a setup executable file instead of an .msi file, required for some scripted installation processes. If you need to use the Crystal Ball .msi file,

you can perform an administrative installation and store the extracted .msi file in a specified folder.

- > To perform an administrative installation and store the extracted installation files:
- 1 In Microsoft Windows, select **Start**, and then **Run**.
- 2 Enter cmd in the edit box to open a command prompt window.
- 3 Use cd and dir to move to the folder where the Crystal Ball setup executable file is located.
- 4 Enter the following at the command prompt: setup_filename /a
- 5 When prompted for a file location, enter an existing or new folder such as C:\temp.

The contents of the setup executable file, including the Crystal Ball .msi file, are extracted to the folder for review and further use.

Automatically Licensing Crystal Ball After Installation

You can use command line code to call CBLicenseActivator.exe and activate a user name and serial number combination.

- > To automatically license Crystal Ball:
- 1 In Microsoft Windows, select **Start**, and then **Run**.
- 2 Enter cmd in the edit box to open a command prompt window.
- **3** Use the cd command to browse to the bin folder beneath the Crystal Ball installation folder. By default, this is C:\Program Files\Oracle\Crystal Ball\bin.
- 4 At the prompt symbol, enter the following text:

CBLicenseActivator.exe "username" serialnumber

where *username* is the user name for the provided serial number.

Note: Enclose *username* in quotation marks and do not add spaces within the serial number.

If the license is activated successfully, a message is displayed beneath the command line. It indicates that the license was successfully activated and is displayed the username, serial number, version, and other information contained in the license, including licensed product features.

If a failure occurs, an exception message is displayed and the exit code for the command line is set to a non-zero value.

3

Post-Installation Steps and Troubleshooting

In This Chapter		
	Starting Crystal Ball	19
	Working with the Crystal Ball Application Manager	21
	Uninstalling Crystal Ball	23
	Troubleshooting	24
	Learning More About Crystal Ball	29

This chapter discusses post-installation steps along with issues you may encounter related to installation, licensing, and startup, and how to handle them.

Starting Crystal Ball

To start Crystal Ball, select Start, then All Programs, then Oracle Crystal Ball, then Crystal Ball in the Windows taskbar.

The following sections describe how to use the Crystal Ball Welcome screen and how to start Crystal Ball automatically with Microsoft Excel:

- "Welcome Screen" on page 19
- "Starting Automatically with Microsoft Excel" on page 20

Welcome Screen

When you start Crystal Ball, the Welcome screen is displayed. For information about the

application type settings, click the *w* button. If you select the Accessibility setting, it activates Accessibility mode for those who need assistive screen-reading technology. The Resources hyperlinks access information about Crystal Ball. Finally, you can click one of the icons to use Crystal Ball, open a Microsoft Excel workbook, or open the Crystal Ball Examples Guide. Click **Use Crystal Ball** to close the Welcome screen and move immediately to Microsoft Excel.

If you are using a trial version or other time-limited version of Crystal Ball, you can learn how many days remain before your license expires. If you already have a username and serial number for a permanent license but have not yet entered it, you can click a button to activate the license for your copy of Crystal Ball.

Starting Automatically with Microsoft Excel

The following topics describe how to set Crystal Ball so it starts automatically with Microsoft Excel:

- "Using the Application Manager" on page 20
- "Using the COM Add-Ins Manager" on page 20
- "Using the Crystal Ball Developer Kit" on page 21

Using the Application Manager

You can set Crystal Ball to start automatically with Microsoft Excel using the Crystal Ball Application Manager. For instructions, see "Working with the Crystal Ball Application Manager" on page 21 and ensure that the first setting, to automatically launch Crystal Ball with Microsoft Excel, is selected.

Using the COM Add-Ins Manager

Subtopics

- For Microsoft Excel 2003
- For Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later

You can start Microsoft Excel and then load or unload Crystal Ball using the COM Add-Ins Manager. You can also use this Microsoft Excel tool to set Crystal Ball to start whenever you start Microsoft Excel.

To use the COM Add-Ins Manager for these tasks, follow the instructions below for your version of Microsoft Excel:

- "For Microsoft Excel 2003" on page 20
- "For Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later" on page 21

Caution! To avoid unexpected results, do not unload Crystal Ball while other COM add-ins are loaded in Microsoft Excel.

For Microsoft Excel 2003

- > To load Crystal Ball within Microsoft Excel:
- **1** Follow these steps to display a list of available COM Add-ins:
 - On the View menu, point to Toolbars, and then click **Customize**.
 - Click the **Commands** tab.
 - In the **Categories** box, click **Tools**.

- In the **Commands** box, select **COM Add-Ins** and drag it to a toolbar, for example, the Microsoft Excel menu bar.
- On the toolbar, click **COM Add-Ins** to see a list of available add-ins.
- 2 In the COM Add-Ins dialog, select Crystal Ball.
- 3 Click **OK** to close the dialog and open Crystal Ball within Microsoft Excel.

To unload Crystal Ball from within Microsoft Excel, follow step 1 and then clear Crystal Ball in step 2.

For Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later

- > To load Crystal Ball within Microsoft Excel:
- 1 Click the **Office** button, **W** or select the **File** ribbon.
- 2 Click the Microsoft Excel Options button, and then click the Add-Ins link.
- 3 In the Manage list at the bottom of the Add-Ins dialog, select COM Add-Ins and click Go.
- 4 In the COM Add-Ins dialog, select Crystal Ball.
- 5 Click **OK** to close the dialog and open Crystal Ball within Microsoft Excel.

To unload Crystal Ball from within Microsoft Excel, follow steps 1 through 3 and then clear Crystal Ball in step 4.

Using the Crystal Ball Developer Kit

If you are familiar with VBA programming, you can use the Crystal Ball Developer Kit to load and unload Crystal Ball from within Microsoft Excel. For more information, open the *Oracle Crystal Ball Developer's Guide* and look up the calls listed in the "Opening and Closing Crystal Ball" section of Chapter 2.

Note: See "Working with the Crystal Ball Application Manager" on page 21 for information about enabling the Developer Kit.

Caution! To avoid unexpected results, do not unload Crystal Ball while other COM add-ins are loaded in Microsoft Excel.

Working with the Crystal Ball Application Manager

Use the Crystal Ball Application Manager for several purposes:

- To start Crystal Ball every time you start Microsoft Excel
- To ensure the appropriate version of the Microsoft .NET Framework is used

• To enable the Crystal Ball Developer Kit

Crystal Ball has separate 32-bit and 64-bit versions of the Application Manager.

- ► To use the Application Manager:
- 1 Select Start, then All Programs, then Oracle Crystal Ball, then Application Manager.
- 2 In the Application Manager (Figure 3), make appropriate Microsoft Excel and Microsoft .NET Framework settings:

Figure 3 The Crystal Ball Application Manager



• To start Crystal Ball each time you start Microsoft Excel, select When starting Microsoft Excel, automatically launch Crystal Ball.

If others are using Crystal Ball on the same computer, each of you can have separate startup settings.

- If multiple versions of Microsoft Excel are installed, select which version of Microsoft Excel should start with Crystal Ball.
- If several versions of Microsoft .Net Framework are installed, select **Use Microsoft .NET Framework 2.0, 3.0, or 3.5 (Recommended)** to ensure the appropriate version is used.
- **3 Optional:** Microsoft Excel 2010 lists Crystal Ball Developer Kit functions with all of its functions when you use the Formula AutoComplete feature while typing a function name in a cell. If you are using Microsoft Excel 2010, an additional checkbox is displayed: **Load Developer Kit upon launch**. This checkbox is selected by default. Clear it to disable the Developer Kit and remove Crystal Ball functions from the AutoComplete list.

If you have disabled the Crystal Ball Developer Kit, enable it if necessary:

- If you want to use the Crystal Ball Developer Kit
- If Crystal Ball is not installed in the default location and you are experiencing problems with certain Crystal Ball tools
- If otherwise instructed to do so
- 4 When settings are complete, click OK.

Note: If you have set Crystal Ball to automatically start each time you set Microsoft Excel and then Crystal Ball fails to load successfully, the first checkbox in the Crystal Ball Application Manager is cleared. You must select the setting again to start Crystal Ball automatically with Microsoft Excel again.

Uninstalling Crystal Ball

If you are replacing a released version of Crystal Ball 7.*x* or 11.*x*, it is automatically uninstalled before this version of Crystal Ball is installed. However, you may need to uninstall Crystal Ball manually in the following cases:

- If you have a beta or other unreleased version of Crystal Ball
- If you want to uninstall without running the installer
- If you are removing the current version of Crystal Ball and changing to an earlier version
- If installation stops and a message is displayed that states you already have a version of Crystal Ball installed
 - Note: Notice of an existing Crystal Ball version can occur unexpectedly, triggered by the previous installation of other Oracle products, such as the Predictive Planning feature of Oracle Hyperion Planning. Follow the steps in "Uninstalling Crystal Ball Manually" on page 23 and uninstall Oracle Crystal Ball when you find it in the Add/Remove Programs or Programs and Features list.

The following topics describe how to uninstall Crystal Ball:

- "Uninstalling Crystal Ball Manually" on page 23
- "Uninstalling Crystal Ball with a Script" on page 24

Uninstalling Crystal Ball Manually

- ► To uninstall Crystal Ball manually:
- **1** Log in to the computer that is running the Crystal Ball client software.

You must have local administrator privileges.

- 2 Select Start, then Settings, then Control Panel, then Add or Remove Programs or Programs and Features.
- 3 Select any Oracle Crystal Ball product from the list of programs.
- 4 Click Change/Remove.
- 5 In the confirmation dialog, click Yes to proceed with the uninstallation of the Crystal Ball product.
- 6 If you are prompted to remove shared files during the uninstallation process, select **No To All**. Uninstallation continues.
- 7 When the uninstallation completes, click **OK**.

Uninstalling Crystal Ball with a Script

- > To perform a silent uninstall using the msiexec command:
- 1 In Microsoft Windows, select Start, and then Run.
- 2 In the edit box, enter cmd.
- 3 At the command prompt, type an msiexec uninstall command in this form: msiexec /x /roduct.msi | {product GUID}> /qn

Use the name of the Crystal Ball msi, in place of *product.msi* or use the product GUID for the installed version of Crystal Ball. For more information on msiexec, visit http://www.microsoft.com or type msiexec ? at the command prompt.

For more information about the Crystal Ball msi, see "Installing and Licensing Crystal Ball with a Script" on page 16.

Troubleshooting

Subtopics

- Disabled Add-ins Message
- Antivirus Warning Is Displayed During Installation
- Software and Hardware 32- and 64-Bit Compatibility Issues
- Other Compatibility Issues
- Running Crystal Ball from the Start Menu
- Problems with Crystal Ball Tools
- Checking the README File
- Viewing the Installation Log File and Other Log Files
- Finding Preferences Files

The following sections describe some error messages and other problems you may discover while you are installing or uninstalling Crystal Ball. Check here first for help with troubleshooting, then contact Technical Support if your question is not answered.

Disabled Add-ins Message

If Microsoft Excel closes unexpectedly when you are trying to start Crystal Ball, it is possible that Microsoft Excel has disabled the Crystal Ball add-in so that Crystal Ball will not start when you try again. The Crystal Ball toolbar may display in Microsoft Excel, but Crystal Ball is not loaded.

If you think the Crystal Ball add-in has been disabled, select **Start**, then **All Programs**, then **Oracle Crystal Ball**, and then **Application Manager**. Then, close the Application Manager. If Microsoft Excel disabled Crystal Ball, a warning message may be displayed.

- > To re-enable Crystal Ball as a Microsoft Excel add-in in Microsoft Excel 2003 or earlier:
- 1 Select Help, then About Microsoft Office Microsoft Excel, and then Disabled Items.
- 2 In the **Disabled Items** dialog, select **crystal ball** and click **Enable**.
- > To re-enable Crystal Ball as a Microsoft Excel add-in in Microsoft Excel 2007 or later:
- 1 Click the **Office** button or select the **File** ribbon.
- 2 In the menu window, click Microsoft Excel Options at the bottom of the window.
- 3 In the Microsoft Excel Options dialog, select Add-Ins.
- 4 In the Manage dropdown list at the bottom of the Add-Ins panel, select **Disabled Items** and click **Go**.
- 5 In the **Disabled Items** dialog, select crystal ball and click Enable.

Antivirus Warning Is Displayed During Installation

Crystal Ball uses the Microsoft installer, msiexec.exe, during the installation process. According to knowledgebase articles available on Microsoft's Web site, certain antivirus applications identify the Microsoft installer as a malicious script.

If a message is displayed, warning that a malicious script is detected, you can select "allow this time only".

Software and Hardware 32- and 64-Bit Compatibility Issues

The current release of Crystal Ball products can run on 32-bit or 64-bit computers with separate installers for each bit level. See "System Requirements" on page 7 for a discussion of compatible bit levels of Crystal Ball, Microsoft Excel, and Microsoft Windows.

If the bit levels of these applications and your computer are not compatible, silent failures and warning messages can occur. These errors are more likely if you have a 64-bit computer, but can also occur if you attempt to use the 64-bit installer on a 32-bit computer. Possible errors are as follows:

• 32-bit computer—The installation fails with this message: "This installation package is not supported by this processor type. Contact your product vendor."

Cause: You have probably attempted to use the 64-bit Crystal Ball installer.

Solution: Install again using the 32-bit Crystal Ball installer.

• **64-bit computer**—An "Undetected Excel" warning occurs and installation continues but Crystal Ball does not start.

Cause 1: You have used the 32-bit Crystal Ball installer with 64-bit Microsoft Excel and Windows.

Solution 1: Uninstall Crystal Ball and install again using the 64-bit installer.

Cause 2: You have used the 64-bit Crystal Ball installer but have installed a 32-bit version of Microsoft Excel.

Solution 2: Uninstall Crystal Ball and install again using the 32-bit installer.

Other Compatibility Issues

Subtopics

- Extreme Speed
- Data Conversion
- Distribution Fitting
- Crystal Ball Microsoft Excel Functions
- Converting Models with CB.Get... Functions Defined as Forecasts
- Backward Compatibility in Microsoft Excel 2003 and Earlier Versions of Microsoft Excel

Most of the compatibility issues in this section occur when models created in previous versions of Crystal Ball are used with the current version. For information about compatibility among Crystal Ball files created in different versions of Microsoft Excel, see Appendix A, "Microsoft Excel 2007 and Later Compatibility and Conversion Issues."

Extreme Speed

If you have Crystal Ball Decision Optimizer with Extreme Speed, this feature is activated by default. Certain models created in earlier versions of Crystal Ball may not run in Extreme speed. If so, a warning message is displayed with information about the problem. You can downshift into Normal speed and continue with the simulation. For details, see the Extreme Speed appendix of the latest *Oracle Crystal Ball User's Guide*.

Data Conversion

If you load a model from an earlier version of Crystal Ball, every effort is made to convert data into the current form if conversion is necessary. Where this is not possible, an error message is displayed stating that data in the specified worksheet could not be converted. An error log is written to the same folder where the model is stored. The log is named worksheet name.xls.CB.txt. For example, if a conversion error occurs in Model2.xls, the log file is named Model2.xls.CB.txt and can be opened in a text editor for review.

Distribution Fitting

If a model created in a version of Crystal Ball earlier than 11.1.1.0.00 is loaded into Crystal Ball version 11.1.1.0.00 or later, previous default settings (All Continuous and Anderson-Darling) are converted into current default settings (AutoSelect and AutoSelect).

Crystal Ball Microsoft Excel Functions

To view Crystal Ball distributions and macros implemented as Microsoft Excel functions in this version of Crystal Ball, select **Insert**, then **Functions**. Then, open the Crystal Ball function category.

The currently-implemented functions display, starting with CB. The probability distribution functions are described in Appendix A of the *Oracle Crystal Ball User's Guide* and the Crystal Ball online help. The remaining functions, beginning with CB. and ending in FN, such as CB.GetAssumPercentFN, are described in the current *Oracle Crystal Ball Developer's Guide*.

Note: Displaying Crystal Ball functions in Microsoft Excel 2010 works somewhat differently. For more information, see "Working with the Crystal Ball Application Manager" on page 21.

Converting Models with CB.Get... Functions Defined as Forecasts

Users of Crystal Ball 7.0 or earlier versions occasionally used the CB.Get... functions in forecast cells to include current data, for example, in an optimization. If you try to use one of these models in Oracle Crystal Ball Decision Optimizer with Extreme Speed, the model will generate compatibility errors.

To change these models so they are compatible with Extreme Speed, remove the CB.Get... functions from forecast cells. Instead, use the Auto Extract tab in the expanded Define Forecast dialog or Forecast Preferences dialog to automatically extract forecast data to another cell following a simulation. Then you can reference that cell in a forecast formula to retain compatibility while using current data.

If you do not want to make these changes but still want to run the model in Normal speed, you will need to clear **Stop On Calculation Errors** in the Run Preferences dialog to continue running despite the calculation errors (#VALUE's) that will occur for many of the returned statistics in the first 5 to 10 trials of the simulation.

Backward Compatibility in Microsoft Excel 2003 and Earlier Versions of Microsoft Excel

If a file supports features that are not available in previous versions of Crystal Ball 7.x or 11.x, those features will be ignored in the earlier version, but the file will still open and run using available features.

For example, if you try to load Crystal Ball 7.3.*x* or later results into an earlier version of Crystal Ball, an error message may explain that the Crystal Ball data contained in the selected result set cannot be loaded. One reason for this message is that a new chart type, scatter charts, was added in Crystal Ball 7.3. Or, the error message may be triggered by the betaPERT distribution, new in Crystal Ball 7.3. In these cases, it could be helpful to load the entire model, not just saved results. If you load a model containing scatter charts or the betaPERT distribution into an earlier version of Crystal Ball, the model runs and the new charts or distribution are ignored.

Running Crystal Ball from the Start Menu

If you have more than one version of Microsoft Excel on your computer and are having trouble starting Crystal Ball with the version of Microsoft Excel you want to use, set the preferred version

with the Crystal Ball Application Manager. For instructions, see "Working with the Crystal Ball Application Manager" on page 21.

Problems with Crystal Ball Tools

"Working with the Crystal Ball Application Manager" on page 21 describes how you can disable the Crystal Ball Developer Kit to remove its functions from the AutoComplete list in Microsoft Excel 2010. If you have disabled the Crystal Ball Developer Kit and are having problems with some of the Crystal Ball tools, use the Application Manager to enable the Developer Kit again.

Checking the README File

For information about other known issues and their solutions, check the Crystal Ball README (release notes) file, available for download from the Enterprise Performance Management Documentation Library, posted on Oracle Technology Network (OTN).

> To open or download this file:

1 Go to:

http://www.oracle.com/technetwork/middleware/epm/documentation/ index.html

- 2 Click View Library for version 11.1.2.
- 3 On the Deployment tab, locate Oracle Crystal Ball, Fusion Edition Readme, and then click the link.

Viewing the Installation Log File and Other Log Files

When you install Crystal Ball, a log of all of the settings and commands run during the installation of Crystal Ball is written to the %temp% folder of the computer with the file name **cbmsiinstall.txt**. If you have trouble installing Crystal Ball or receive Microsoft errors when using Crystal Ball, send this file to Crystal Ball Technical Support when you request assistance. To open the file, select **Start**, then **Run** and enter the following text into the Open dialog:

%temp%\cbmsiinstall.txt

The log file opens in Notepad. You can save it to the Desktop or My Documents to make it easier to attach to your e-mail.

To find other log files, set hidden folders and files to be visible in Microsoft Windows and then browse to C:\Documents and Settings*your name*>\Application Data\Oracle\Crystal Ball\11.0. If you are using Windows Vista or later, or just want to navigate quickly, enter the following location in My Computer or Windows Explorer: %appdata%\Oracle\Crystal Ball\11.0. Then, open the Logs folder to find the files.

Finding Preferences Files

When you set global preferences, such as run preferences and user-defined folder names in the Distribution Gallery, the settings are stored in preferences files. To locate preferences files, set hidden folders and files to be visible in Microsoft Windows and then browse to C: \Documents and Settings\<your name>\Application Data\Oracle\Crystal Ball \11.0. If you are using Windows Vista or just want to navigate quickly, enter the following location in My Computer or Windows Explorer: %appdata%\Oracle\Crystal Ball\11.0. Then, open the Store folder to find the files.

Learning More About Crystal Ball

If you have questions or concerns about Crystal Ball products, visit the Crystal Ball Web site for current news and contact information:

http://www.oracle.com/crystalball



Microsoft Excel 2007 and Later Compatibility and Conversion Issues

In This Appendix

File Types in Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later	31
New Crystal Ball Data Format	31
Portability of Analysis Toolpak Functions in Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later	32
Converting to Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later	32
Rare Data Loss Scenarios	32

File Types in Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later

Starting with version 2007, Microsoft Excel supports three main new XML-based file formats:

- XLSX—Office Open XML format without support for VBA or macros
- XLSM—Office Open XML format including support for VBA or macros
- XLSB—Office Open binary format (in an XML structure that contains binary data instead of XML data)

By default, any new workbooks created in Microsoft Excel 2007 or later are created in one of these file formats.

You can also open older Microsoft Excel 97-2003 workbooks with file extension XLS in Microsoft Excel 2007 or later. These older workbooks are opened in a special compatibility mode (identified by "[Compatibility Mode]" after the filename in the window title) so you can operate on them in much the same manner as with newer file formats. You cannot, however, use any of the new Microsoft Excel 2007 or later features such as the expanded grid size, new chart types, and so on.

You can use the Save As command in Microsoft Excel 2007 or later to convert your older XLS files to one of the new file formats or, optionally, to convert the new formats to XLS.

New Crystal Ball Data Format

Beginning with Crystal Ball 7.3.*x*, Crystal Ball stores its data in a new format within Microsoft Excel 2007 or later files. Older Crystal Ball data formats are converted to the new format the first time you perform a Save or Save As command in Microsoft Excel 2007 or later. Crystal Ball must be loaded when you save the file.

Before converting older XLS files to one of the new Microsoft Excel 2007 or later formats, Oracle recommends that you keep backup copies of your older workbooks for safekeeping.

Portability of Analysis Toolpak Functions in Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later

With Microsoft Excel 2003 and earlier, a model created on an English-language version of Windows with English Analysis Toolpak functions was not portable to other language environments since the function name would not be recognized. This is no longer a problem in Microsoft Excel 2007 or later since the Analysis Toolpak is a part of the core XLL.

Converting to Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later

- To convert your XLS workbooks to one of the new file formats, Oracle recommends that you first create a backup copy of the XLS workbook and then follow these steps:
- 1 Run Microsoft Excel 2007 or later with Crystal Ball loaded.
 - **Note:** If Oracle Crystal Ball is not loaded, a warning message about script objects may be displayed. Click **OK** to continue.
- 2 Open an XLS workbook.
- 3 Select **Save As** from the Office button. The Save As command has a submenu where you can select a different file format, or you can use the Save As dialog to select the file format.

After you save the file to one of the new file formats, the Crystal Ball data is converted to the Microsoft Excel 2007 or later format.

Using the Microsoft Excel 2007 or Later Convert Command

You can also convert XLS workbooks to the new Microsoft Excel 2007 or later formats using the Convert command under the Office button in Microsoft Excel 2007 or later. Crystal Ball data is converted to the current format as soon as the workbook is saved.

The Convert command, however, has a side effect of removing the older XLS file in the process. Oracle recommends that you use the Save As command to maintain a backup copy of the XLS file.

Rare Data Loss Scenarios

In a few rare cases, Crystal Ball data can be lost during a series of conversion processes.

To avoid virtually all problems, have Crystal Ball 7.3.x or later open whenever files with Crystal Ball data are opened and saved.

If you do this, you will probably never experience these difficulties. However, you should be aware of the following cases so you can avoid them.

Forward, Then Backward Save

- > Avoid this situation because data loss could occur if you :
- 1 Run Microsoft Excel 2007 or later *without* Crystal Ball 7.3.*x* or later loaded.
- 2 Save an XLS workbook to one of the Microsoft Excel 2007 or later file formats.
- 3 In a separate session, run Microsoft Excel 2007 or later *without* Crystal Ball 7.3.x or later loaded again.
- 4 Open the workbook that was created in step 2 and resave it back to the XLS format.

Save and Resave in Microsoft Excel 2003 or Earlier

- > Avoid this situation because data loss could occur if you :
- 1 Save an XLS workbook to one of the Microsoft Excel 2007 or later file formats.
- 2 Open the workbook that was created in step 1 and resave it either in the same file format or back to XLS.

If one of these scenarios occurs, contact Customer Support for further assistance. For contact information, see

http://www.oracle.com/crystalball